IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC10-2035

ERIC LEE SIMMONS

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

DIRECT APPEAL FROM A 3.851 DENIAL

DAVID D. HENDRY Florida Bar No.0160016 Assistant CCRC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FLORIDA 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Simmons' postconviction motion filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Eric Lee Simmons was tried and convicted for the December 2001 murder of Deborah Tressler. This Court affirmed the conviction and death sentence five years ago. *See Simmons v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2006). Mr. Simmons was also concurrently convicted of the kidnapping and sexual battery of Ms. Tressler. These convictions were also affirmed. *Id.* Following denial of a 3.851 Motion, this appeal follows.

The State presented а case based primarily on circumstantial evidence against Mr. Simmons. One piece of direct incriminating evidence Mr. Simmons faced at trial was the "confession" he allegedly made to the interrogating detectives after four hours of denials were rejected by his interrogators. Commenting on the sufficiency of evidence against Mr. Simmons, this Court stated the following on direct appeal about the statements made to law enforcement: "Simmons was acknowledging quilt from his statement that he 'must have did it.'" Simmons, discussed extensively at the evidentiary Id. at 1111. As hearing, the entirety of Mr. Simmons alleged statement consisted of the following: "If you found blood in my car, I must have did it." See Vol. XXVI PCR 1387.

Shockingly coercive tactics were employed by law enforcement to obtain the above "confession," yet trial counsel never raised the specific issue of coercion in a motion to

suppress the statements. Trial counsel neglected to argue that because law enforcement loudly, offensively, obtrusively, and menacingly threatened Mr. Simmons with the death penalty several times if he did not confess, the incriminating statement should have been suppressed because it was not voluntarily made.

As seen from the partially-videotaped interrogation, the "electric chair," "lethal injection," and "the IV st[i]ck" were all specifically threatened during law enforcement's interrogation of Mr. Simmons. Trial counsel failed to argue the involuntary nature of the confession based on law enforcement improperly suggesting that they could possibly get the State to come off the death penalty if Mr. Simmons would just confess. The partially-videotaped interrogation of Mr. Simmons is included in this postconviction record on appeal on DVD. See (Vol. XIV PCR 3393). The Appellant strongly urges the Court to view the DVD as it analyzes this case (see DVD at Vol. XIV PCR 3393 and Vol. XVIII PCR 5988; the most coercive and threatening eight (8) minutes of the interrogation are located at camera counter 23:58:01-00:03:35 and by 00:13:58-00:17:01).

During the interrogation, Mr. Simmons is physically poked, prodded, yelled at by the detectives, told he has no friends, that the detectives are the closest things to friends that he has, that they are trying to help him by getting him to confess, and they could possibly talk to the prosecutors and get him some

leniency if he were to just cooperate, confess, and show remorse. Suggestions are made that perhaps the victim was the initial aggressor, or, perhaps it was an accident. As he repeatedly denies the offense, they threaten him specifically with first degree murder, the electric chair, legal injection, and warn that they will send him up the road with an IV sticking in his arm if he does not confess. They suggest that if he fails to confess he will be executed. (Vol. XXV R 3036-3055).

At the evidentiary hearing, Detective Butch Purdue was asked why he threatened Mr. Simmons during the interrogation. The detective responded as follows: "It is what it is. I did it that night. It was a mistake to do and I can't take that back. It was probably the biggest error I've ever made." (Vol. XXVII PCR 1454). Even in the face of this evidence, the lower court failed to grant relief on the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue of coercion in a motion to suppress. See (Vol. IX PCR 1689-1775).

At trial, the State presented evidence that the Appellant's DNA (his semen) was found in the vaginal washings of the victim. The following stipulation was read to the jury at trial:

Ladies and gentlemen, the parties have agreed and stipulated, that an analysis of the vaginal washings from Ms. Tressler produced Mr. Simmons's semen in her vagina. This evidence is offered for the sole purpose of establishing that Mr. Simmons and Ms. Tressler had a sexual encounter. It is not relevant to the sexual battery charge herein as that charge involves

allegations of anal penetration and it is not to be considered by you in any way as to that charge.

(Vol. XXXIII R 2698). What the jury at trial and this Court on direct appeal *did not hear* is that the sexual encounter was completely consensual in nature. Neighbors Edward and Deborah Johnson testified at the evidentiary hearing that they overheard Mr. Simmons and Ms. Tressler engaging in loud, consensual sex some time shortly before Ms. Tressler's disappearance and murder. (*See* Vol. XX PCR 103-128).

The jury and this Court were also unaware that during the time that FDLE DNA analyst John Fitzpatrick was working this case, and during the time that he generated a previously undisclosed, signed report documenting his findings and conclusions on the DNA testing in the Simmons case, he failed and falsified records on a proficiency test. *See i.e.*, testimony of FDLE supervisor Harry Hopkins at Vol. XXV-XXVI PCR 1185-1250.

For his misdeeds, a finding of falsification of records was sustained against John Fitzpatrick by FDLE, and he was given the opportunity to resign in lieu of termination. *See i.e.*, testimony of FDLE regional director Joyce Dawley at Vol. XXIX PCR 1835-1837. Ms. Dawley agreed that this incident would have undermined Mr. Fitzpatrick's credibility. (Vol. XXIX PCR 1837).

The jury and this Court were not made aware that FDLE DNA analyst John Fitzpatrick was taken off casework immediately

following his submission of a signed report on the extensive evidence he tested Simmons. (Vol. XXVI PCR 1224). Mr. Fitzpatrick's signed report in Simmons is located at Vol. XII PCR 2807-2812. The John Fitzpatrick internal affairs report including a sustained finding of falsification of records is located at Vol. X PCR 1917-1968. Quite remarkably, none of this information was ever turned over to trial counsel.

Other evidence related to this issue is a May 2, 2002 letter from FDLE legal advisor Steve Brady to State Attorney Brad King officially informing him of the John Fitzpatrick situation, and opining that the information is "not Brady material." (Vol. XVI PCR 4838-4841). Also, prosecutor Bill Gross wrote an April 4, 2002 memo to the Simmons file wherein he talks about a telephone conference he had with FDLE supervisor Hap Hopkins regarding the John Fitzpatrick situation. Mr. Simmons' prosecutor states in the memo that there is "NO duty to disclose" the John Fitzpatrick internal affairs information, and states that "John resigned before generating a report." (Vol. XIV PCR 3327-3330). An Order was signed in 2002 compelling such information be furnished to trial counsel (Vol. I R 117-119), yet the State still refused to forward the available John Fitzpatrick information to the defense.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I - A new trial should be awarded because trial counsel

failed to challenge the egregious, outrageous and atrocious conduct of law enforcement in this case. After handcuffing Mr. Simmons and taking him to the police station, law enforcement repeatedly badgered him for four hours, even threatened him with the death penalty if he continued to refuse to confess. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise the issue of coercion in a motion to suppress the statements.

ARGUMENT II - Following the presentation of stipulated evidence that the Appellant's DNA (semen) was found in the victim's vaginal washings, trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence that the Appellant and the victim engaged in *consensual* sexual relations shortly before the discovery of her violated, lifeless body.

ARGUMENT III - The State committed numerous *Brady* violations, even violated a written court order requiring disclosure of documents relating to John Fitzpatrick's involvement in this case. At the same time John Fitzpatrick was working as lead DNA analyst for FDLE on the instant case, he failed a proficiency examination, switched samples, then lied and changed his answers on the test prior to submitting the results. The lower court should have granted relief based on *Brady* and *Giglio* violations, and should have granted default judgment against the State for their repeated, systematic, and willful discovery violations in connection with the John Fitzpatrick information.

ARGUMENT IV - Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present all available mitigating evidence for the Appellant, including two statutory mental health mitigators and significant brain damage.

ARGUMENT V - The sum of cumulative errors here warrants relief.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court should apply de novo review as per *Stephens v*. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 2000).

ARGUMENT I

LAW ENFORCEMENT ACTUALLY THREATENED MR. SIMMONS WITH THE DEATH PENALTY DURING THE INTERROGATION. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO RAISE THE ISSUE OF THE COERCIVE NATURE OF THE INTERROGATION IN A MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS. MR. SIMMONS DID NOT RECEIVE THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, VIOLATING HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS THE UNITED OF STATES CONSTITUTION AND HIS CORRESPONDING RIGHTS UNDER THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO CHALLENGE THE VOLUNTARINESS OF MR. SIMMONS' "CONFESSION."

During his interrogation, Mr. Simmons was specifically threatened with the electric chair, lethal injection, the death penalty, and death. Law enforcement suggested that Mr. Simmons' life could be spared if he would just confess, and following such suggestions he indeed did confess. Commenting on the sufficiency of evidence against Mr. Simmons, this Court stated the following on direct appeal about the statements made to law enforcement: "Simmons was acknowledging guilt from his statement that he 'must have did it.'" Simmons, Id. at 1111.

That statement should have been suppressed because it was the product of an extremely coercive interrogation.

Though most of the interrogation was videotaped, Mr. Simmons' final surrendering admission was not recorded because "the videotape was allowed to run out after two hours." Simmons, Id. at 1107. The tactics employed by law enforcement this case to obtain the "confession" were extremely in offensive, improper, and certainly likely to produce a false confession. Mr. Simmons shouldered four hours of offensive accusations from two very aggressive, relentless, badgering law enforcement officers in a small room. Mr. Simmons repeatedly made denials until he finally became exasperated and gave the police exactly what they demanded to hear -- a "confession." Simmons, even with his communicative and intellectual Mr. limitations, came to realize that the only way he could possibly terminate the oppressive interrogation was to admit guilt notwithstanding his innocence. And it worked.

Due in part to the failures of trial counsel, Mr. Simmons' incriminating admission was admitted at trial.

The Legal Standard

Ineffective assistance of counsel is comprised of two components: deficient performance and prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove deficient performance the defendant must show "that counsel made errors so

serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* "The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Id.* at 688. To prove the deficient performance caused prejudice to the defendant, the defendant must show "that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Id.* at 687.

The defendant must show both deficient performance and prejudice to prove that a "conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." Id. "The purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel is to ensure that a defendant had the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding." Id. at 691.

A defendant, however, "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Id.* at 693. "When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. When a defendant challenges a death sentence such as the one at issue in this case, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent there is a reasonable probability that sentence such as the one at issue in this case, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer--including an appellate

court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence-would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." Id. at 695.

"In making this determination, a court hearing an ineffectiveness claim must consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury." *Id.* at 695. "[A] verdict or conclusion only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support." *Id.* at 696. Based on the principles of *Strickland*, Mr. Simmons' conviction and sentence should be vacated.

Trial Counsel's Admitted Failure to Challenge Coercion

Trial attorney Janice Orr readily admitted at the evidentiary hearing without hesitation that she failed to challenge a crucial aspect of the interrogation in her motion to suppress, specifically: the voluntariness of the statement based on the very coercive aspects of the interrogation. Trial counsel admitted she "stopped short of what needed to be done on that issue." (Vol. XXVII PCR 1567). Although Ms. Orr filed a motion to suppress the statement based on Fourth Amendment grounds, to wit, whether this was a custodial interrogation, the motion to suppress was grossly inadequate. Given the threats and promises made against Mr. Simmons, the issue of voluntariness of the statements should have been raised by trial counsel. Ms. Orr should have consulted an expert in the area of

coercive police interrogations and false confessions. Such an expert could have assisted with the pre-trial motion to suppress, and could have cast doubt on the reliability of the admission at trial. Ms. Orr admitted:

Did you consider moving to suppress the Q. Okay. statement based on the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment considerations of the coercive aspect of the interrogation? I did not do that and should have done that. Α. Т stopped short of what needed to be done on that issue. I stopped with the Fourth Amendment issues. They seemed so egregious to me. . . . I did not take it a step further, which was an error on my part.

(Vol. XXVII PCR 1567-1568).

At the evidentiary hearing, Sergeant Adams admitted that he was attempting to "shock" Mr. Simmons by pounding on the table and lunging forward towards him. (Vol. XXVII PCR 1426). He freely admitted that he was trying to intimidate him. Those type of coercive interrogation methods are the type that can easily lead to false confessions, as explained by Professor Richard Leo at the evidentiary hearing. See testimony of Professor Leo at Vol. XXII PCR 483-557. Those types of techniques cause a subsequent confession not to be freely and voluntarily made, not born of free will. Therefore, such statements should be targeted for legal suppression. Sergeant Adams testified as follows at the evidentiary hearing:

Q. Going back to that portion there on the interrogation. You pounded on the table. I want to ask you, why did you do that?

A. Maybe to shock him.

Q. To shock him?

. . . MR. HENDRY: Your Honor, I'm going to conclude this, but I just want to play the beginning of disk 2 and these be introduced ask that as part of our postconviction evidentiary hearing. THE COURT: Come on up, sir, and make a spot. (Mr. Jimmerson comes forward and plays an inaudible^[1] disk on the computer.) DETECTIVE ADAMS: (Inaudible) - frigging break here. THE DEFENDANT: You need to get out of my face like that, man, because I ain't did nothing. All I say (inaudible) - no, I'm not. DETECTIVE ADAMS: What'd you say? What'd you say? THE DEFENDANT: I said I was on my way to (inaudible) Monday and I seen a helicopter-DETECTIVE ADAMS: No. That's not what you told us.

(Vol. XXVII PCR 1426, 1427).

Detective Perdue honestly admitted that threatening Mr. Simmons in the interrogation room with the electric chair was perhaps the worst mistake he made in his entire career. He admitted that he should not have made Mr. Simmons feel threatened. (Vol. XXVII PCR 1456). The coercive methods used during this interrogation were outrageous and extreme, rendering Mr. Simmons' statement: "I must have did it," involuntary and inadmissible. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to raise these obvious and specific issues in the trial court.

In the case of *Brewer v. State*, 386 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 1980), this Court ruled that even an intervening rights advisory

¹The disk was only partially inaudible as seen in the transcript of the interrogation that follows.

provided at the first appearance court hearing did not cure the taint of a prior coercive police interrogation and oral The Court ruled that a lapse in time and advisory confession. at first appearance was not sufficient to render a subsequent written statement voluntary. In Brewer, the trial court ruled oral admission in the heat of the first the coercive interrogation involuntary and inadmissible, but held that the subsequent written confession taken after court was admissible because of a break in the chain of the interrogation and because of the rights advisory in court. This Court reversed, ruling that both confessions were inadmissible. Police interrogations riddled with death threats and disingenuous promises are intolerable. The Court noted in Brewer, "The officers raised the specter of the electric chair, suggested that they had power to effect leniency, and suggested to the appellant that he would not be given a fair trial. It was under the influence of these threats and promises that the appellant made an oral confession. The appellant's motion to suppress his oral statements made Id. at 235. before his first appearance was granted." Mr. Simmons' interrogation included all three coercive elements listed above in Brewer. Except, in the case at bar, there was no intervening rights advisory, there was no written statement, there no interruptions during the four and were hour interrogation. This is all the more reason to suppress the

statements based on the coercive aspects of the interrogation.

This Court set Mr. Brewer's conviction aside and remanded the case for a new trial wherein all the statements would be excluded, both oral and written, both pre-and-post first appearance court and rights advisory. In the case at bar, as he was being grilled by law enforcement, no judge, no attorney, nor any such advisor ever entered the interrogation room to inform Mr. Simmons that he had a right to terminate the interrogation and remain silent. More than one time during the interrogation Mr. Simmons had to request: "You better get out of my face." (Vol. XXV R 3056). To this, Sergeant Adams responded as follows: "No, what did you say?" (Vol. XXV R 3056.) As seen in the excerpts from the interrogation transcript below, Mr. Simmons even attempted to exercise his right to remain silent by saying: "Whatever, man, I'm through." (Vol. XXV R 3056-3057). But the detectives kept on interrogating. Although arguably this statement may not have been an unequivocal assertion of his right to remain silent, Mr. Simmons was obviously trying to terminate the interrogation. The fact that the detectives continued on with the interrogation for much longer after Mr. Simmons' attempt to terminate is evidence of the extreme coercion present in this interrogation.

The United States Supreme Court has stated the following: Our decisions under th[e Due Process Clause of the

Fourteenth] Amendment have made clear that convictions following the admission into evidence of confessions which are involuntary, i.e., the product of coercion, either physical or psychological, cannot stand. This is not so because such confessions are unlikely to be true but because the methods used to extract them offend an underlying principle in the enforcement of our criminal law: that ours is an accusatorial and not an inquisitorial system--a system in which the State must establish guilt by evidence independently and freely secured and may not by coercion prove its charge against an accused out of his own mouth.

Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U.S. 534, 540-41 (1961).

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