#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC SIMMONS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-2035 L.T. No. 01-CF-2577

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Simmons first claims that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Shirley Harness because she would have testified to exculpatory evidence. At the evidentiary hearing, Shirley Harness testified that the victim, pushy" and always "got into everybody's business." (PCR V21:368-69). Ms. Harness explained that Ms. watch the laundromat where she worked with binoculars from her nearby trailer and would call the police if she saw suspicious activity. (PCR V21:374). Ms. Harness testified that the Rodriguez brothers (Jose and Juan) dealt drugs at the laundromat and threatened Ms. (PCR V21:378). questioned by the State, Ms. Harness testified that she never

heard Ms. call the police on Jose Rodriguez, and never heard Jose Rodriguez threaten Ms. (PCR V21:394).

Ms. Harness admitted that during the time of the murder and the trial, she was a street person living "on the run." (PCR V21:366, 385). Simmons' trial counsel, Janice Orr, testified that she and her full-time investigator searched for Ms. Harness prior to trial, but they were never able to locate her. (PCR V28:1619-21, 1648).

Obviously, as the postconviction court appropriately found, this claim is without merit because Simmons failed to establish that the Shirley Harness was available at the time of trial. (PCR V9:1738-40). The law is well established that trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to call an unavailable See White v. State, 964 So. 2d 1278, 1286 (Fla. 2007) ("A defendant cannot establish ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to call a witness unavailable."); Evans v. State, 995 So. 2d 933, 943 (Fla. 2008) ("Because it is clear from the record that counsel reasonable attempts to locate Lynch but was unable to find him, Evans cannot establish that counsel was ineffective for failing to call him at trial."). The court noted that "collateral counsel never pursued any line of questioning regarding the efforts made by trial counsel and her investigator to locate"

this witness and "did not provide any evidence that another investigator or witness locator would have been successful." (PCR V9:1740).

Similarly, the court found that Simmons failed to establish that his trial counsel was deficient for failing to call Carrie Petty because she was also unavailable. Ms. Petty testified she worked at Robin's Restaurant which was near laundromat where the victim worked. She testified that she observed the victim with John Yohman on four or five occasions and they appeared very friendly together. 15 About a month or two after the murder, the restaurant closed. (PCR V22:571-89). counsel Janice Orr testified that her full-time investigator also tried to locate Carrie Petty, but was unable to find her. Ms. Orr explained that her investigator contacted a law enforcement officer for assistance in locating these witnesses, but they did not have any information on either of these two witnesses. (PCR V28:1621). Because Shirley Harness and Carrie Petty were unavailable, the postconviction court

John Yohman testified that he recognized a photograph of the victim, but he did not know her name and had never socialized with her. Shortly after her murder, Yohman gave a statement to detectives regarding seeing the victim at the laundromat late in the evening on December 1, 2001, with a white car parked in front of the laundromat. (PCR V22:557-69). As previously noted, other eyewitnesses observed the victim trying to jump out of Simmons' white car at an intersection around midnight.

properly found that trial counsel was not deficient for failing to call these witnesses.

Simmons further alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony from Simmons' cousin, Jerry Linton, regarding his meeting the victim at Simmons' apartment sometime around late October or early November, 2001. V23:690). the evidentiary hearing, collateral Αt proffered testimony from Mr. Linton that when he saw the victim limping at Simmons' apartment, he asked her about her injury and she responded that her ex-husband or ex-boyfriend had pushed her off a horse and punched or kicked her. (Tr.695-96). proffered testimony regarding how the victim had received her injuries was the result of the lower court sustaining the State's hearsay objection to this testimony. Mr. testified that he did not know when the victim sustained her injury and also did not know when she left Marion County and moved to Lake County. Thus, collateral counsel's speculation that this testimony, if admissible, would have suggested that abusive ex-boyfriend was lurking across town, he had beaten her up to the point that she limped, and she was on the run from him" is without merit.

As the postconviction court noted when denying this claim, Simmons' allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for

failing to question Linton regarding his conversation with the victim is without merit because Linton's testimony was inadmissible hearsay and would not have been admitted at trial. (PCR V9:1740-42). Trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to attempt to elicit inadmissible hearsay testimony. See generally Owen v. State, 986 So. 2d 534, 543 (Fla. 2008) (noting that allegations that counsel was ineffective for not pursuing a meritless argument are legally insufficient to state a claim for postconviction relief); Nelson v. State, 43 So. 3d 20, 30-31 (Fla. 2010) (noting that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to call expert witness because his testimony would not have been admissible at guilt phase). As the record clearly supports the postconviction court's denial of Simmons' ineffective assistance of guilt phase counsel claims, this Court should affirm the court's denial of relief.

#### ISSUE III

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY DENIED SIMMONS' BRADY AND GIGLIO CLAIMS.

In his third issue, Simmons asserts that the State withheld material exculpatory evidence in violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and presented, or failed to correct, false testimony in violation of Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). After conducting an evidentiary hearing on Simmons' claims, the postconviction court issued a detailed order denying these allegations. (PCR V9:1747-61). The State submits that a review of the record clearly supports the lower court's findings that the State did not suppress exculpatory or impeaching evidence that was material, nor did the State present, or fail to correct, false testimony.

As this Court has noted, both <u>Brady</u> and <u>Giglio</u> claims present mixed questions of law and fact. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 883 So. 2d 766, 785 (Fla. 2004). As to findings of fact, this Court defers to the lower court's findings if they are supported by competent, substantial evidence. <u>Hurst v. State</u>, 18 So. 3d 975, 988 (Fla. 2009). This Court reviews the trial court's application of the law to the facts *de novo*. <u>Id.</u> at 988. The State submits that the postconviction court properly applied the applicable law to Simmons' claims and the court's numerous

factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence. See generally Taylor v. State, 62 So. 3d 1101, 1114 (Fla. 2011) (noting that "[q]uestions of whether evidence is exculpatory or impeaching and whether the State suppressed evidence are questions of fact, and the trial court's determination of such questions will not be disturbed if they are supported by competent, substantial evidence").

### A. Alleged Brady violation

In addressing Simmons' allegation that the State withheld favorable evidence from defense counsel, the lower court set forth the proper legal standards to review the claim:

To the extent the Defendant presents a Brady claim, he must show "(1) that favorable evidenceeither exculpatory or impeaching, (2) was willfully or inadvertently suppressed by the State, and (3) because material, evidence was the defendant prejudiced." Riechmann v. State, 966 So. 2d 298, 307 (Fla. 2007) (citing Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999)). To establish prejudice, this Court whether "the favorable evidence could ask reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." Smith v. State, 931 So. 2d 790, 796 (Fla. 2006) (quoting Strickler, 527 U.S. at 290). In Guzman v. State, 868 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 2003), the Florida Supreme Court clarified the Brady standard materiality:

Under <u>Brady</u>, the undisclosed evidence is material if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. A criminal defendant alleging a

Brady violation bears the burden to show prejudice, i.e., to show a reasonable probability that the undisclosed evidence would have produced a different verdict.

Id. at 506. (Citations and quotations omitted).
(PCR V9:1747-48).

Simmons claims that the State violated Brady by failing to disclose to defense counsel alleged exculpatory or impeaching information regarding FDLE's investigation and findings that analyst John Fitzpatrick's falsified records on a proficiency At the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel examination. called numerous witnesses and presented voluminous amounts of evidence regarding John Fitzpatrick's initial documentary involvement in this case and FDLE's investigation Fitzpatrick's alleged cheating on his proficiency examination which ultimately culminated in Fitzpatrick resigning from FDLE after FDLE concluded that he had falsified results on the test. The court correctly noted that "the heart of Defendant's argument is his assertion that the State withheld information regarding Mr. Fitzpatrick's termination with FDLE." (PCR V9:1749).

The court rejected Simmons' <u>Brady</u> claim based, among other reasons, on a factual finding that the information regarding Fitzpatrick was not withheld or suppressed by the State. Although there were documents from FDLE that were not turned

over to Simmons' trial counsel, the postconviction court found that the State had nevertheless notified trial counsel that John Fitzpatrick had been involved in this case and was subsequently investigated by FDLE and resigned. In addition to informing prior trial counsel William Stone of this information, the record also established that Simmons' trial counsel Janice Orr was aware of the fact that analyst Fitzpatrick had analyzed evidence in this case and was "fired" from FDLE. As the postconviction court properly noted:

Thus, it is apparent counsel knew that Mr. Fitzpatrick had handled the evidence and that there had been problems with Mr. Fitzpatrick that ultimately led to his leaving FDLE. This Court concludes that this is fatal to the Defendant's claim. Florida courts have held that a Brady claim cannot stand if the defendant knew of the evidence that was allegedly withheld or had possession of it. Occhicone v. State, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1042 (Fla. 2000); see also, Lynch v. State, 2 So. 3d 47, 83 (Fla. 2008) (citations omitted); Walton v. State, 847 So. 2d 438,453 (Fla. 2003) (quoting Occhicone); Maharai v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 954 (Fla. 2000).

Prior to trial, defense counsel filed a motion to compel to obtain documents from FDLE regarding their forensic work in order for the defense to provide this information to their expert. (DAR V1:83-85). The trial court entered an order requiring FDLE to release, among numerous other items, "a complete copy of the personnel file of any and all analysts that performed work in the above referenced case, including, but not limited to Shawn M. Johnson." (DAR V1:117-19).

(PCR V9:1750). Because defense trial counsel was aware of the substance of this information, or could have obtained it with reasonable diligence, this Court should affirm the postconviction court's denial of this claim. See generally Provenzano v. State, 616 So. 2d 428, 430 (Fla. 1993) (explaining that there is no Brady violation where the information is equally accessible to the defense and the prosecution, or where the defense had the information); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506 (Fla. 1999) (stating that trial court did not err in denying Brady claim where the record established that trial counsel was aware of the substance of the evidence, despite not having all the relevant documentation).

In addition to the factual finding that the State did not suppress the information regarding John Fitzpatrick, the postconviction court also found that the evidence was not material and there was no reasonable probability that the Fitzpatrick evidence would have provided a different verdict at trial if presented to the jury. Although Fitzpatrick initially handled and tested some of the forensic evidence in this case, the testimony from the evidentiary hearing establishes that once FDLE learned of Fitzpatrick's proficiency test issues, another FDLE analyst, Shawn Johnson, re-worked the evidence "from scratch" and treated the evidence as if it had just come into

the lab. Despite presenting extensive evidence surrounding FDLE analyst Fitzpatrick's proficiency test issues, Simmons failed to establish how *any* of this evidence would have been admissible at trial or beneficial to his defense.

At the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel presented testimony from DNA expert Candy Zuleger. Ms. Zuleger examined all of the forensic evidence submitted to FDLE and also reviewed FDLE's handling of Fitzpatrick's proficiency test. Ms. Zuleger testified that she was confused by FDLE analysts Fitzpatrick's and Johnson's different labeling of the forensic evidence in this case and this caused her to doubt the scientific validity of the testing, i.e., the ability of others to reproduce the results. However, she acknowledged that when Shawn Johnson took over the case, he may not have been confused by Fitzpatrick's initial labeling of the evidence. 17 (PCR V23:155-92).

Despite the differing methods of labeling between the two FDLE analysts, both Shawn Johnson and John Fitzpatrick came up with consistent results on all of the forensic testing, 18 and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Shawn Johnson testified that he thought Fitzpatrick's labeling was somewhat confusing, but he re-labeled all the evidence as he inventoried it after receiving instructions to work the case from scratch. (PCR V26:1267-68).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> As noted by the lower court, the only difference in results concerned Simmons' DNA in the victim's vaginal washings. As Cathy Zuleger explained, Shawn Johnson's test results of the

collateral counsel failed to cast any doubt on the reliability of these results. (PCR V26:1344-46). Furthermore, in addition to noting that the two analysts had consistent results on all the evidence, the postconviction court further noted that the defense's own DNA expert, Dr. Blake, confirmed some of these results. (PCR V9:1751). Because the record clearly supports the lower court's finding that Simmons "failed to cast any doubt on the reliability of these results," this Court should affirm the court's ruling denying Simmons relief on his claim of a Brady violation.

### B. Alleged Giglio violations

In order for a defendant to prevail on a <u>Giglio</u> claim, a defendant must establish: (1) that false testimony was presented, (2) that the prosecutor knew the testimony was false, or failed to correct what he subsequently learned was false testimony, and (3) that the falsehood was material. <u>Ventura v. State</u>, 794 So. 2d 553, 562 (Fla. 2001). If the first two prongs are established, the false evidence is deemed material if there is any reasonable possibility that it could have affected the jury's verdict. <u>Tompkins v. State</u>, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1091 (Fla.

victim's vaginal washing matched Simmons' DNA at 8 loci, whereas Fitzpatrick's results matched Simmons' DNA at all 13 loci. (PCR V21:260-61). Thus, by relying on Shawn Johnson's DNA testing, the State utilized statistics that were more favorable to Simmons.

2008). The State must then "prove that the false testimony was not material by demonstrating it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. Under the harmless error test, the State must prove "'there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction.'" Guzman v. State, 941 So. 2d 1045, 1050 (Fla. 2006) (quoting State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986)).

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